
Warrenton City Hall is accessible to the disabled.  An interpreter for the hearing impaired may be requested under the terms of 
ORS 192.630 by contac�ng Dawne Shaw, City Recorder, at 503-861-0823 at least 48 hours in advance of the mee�ng so 
appropriate assistance can be provided. 

City of Warrenton City Commission 
Agenda 

City Hall, 225 S. Main Warrenton, OR 97146 
Tuesday, May 13, 2025  

 

***The meeting will be broadcast via Zoom at the following link*** 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/5332386326?pwd=VHNVVXU5blkxbDZ2YmxISWpha0dhUT09#success 

Meeting ID: 533 238 6326 | Passcode: 12345 | Dial-in Number: 253-215-8782 
 

Public Comment: To provide public comment, participants should register prior to the meeting. All remarks will be addressed to 
the whole City Commission and limited to 3 minutes per person. The Commission reserves the right to delay any action, if 
required, until such time as they are fully informed on a matter. Once your public comment is submitted it becomes part of 
permanent public record.  

 
You may provide public comment using the following methods: 

1. In-person: Complete a public comment card and submit to the City Recorder prior to the start of the meeting. 
2. Via Zoom: Register with the City Recorder, at cityrecorder@warrentonoregon.us no later than 3pm the day of the 

meeting.  Please ensure that your zoom name matches the name registered to comment. 
3. Written comments: Submit via e-mail to the City Recorder, at cityrecorder@warrentonoregon.us, no later than 3:00 p.m. 

the day of the meeting. 

 

City Commission Regular Mee�ng 6:00 PM 
1. Call to order 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

3. Consent Calendar 

A. City Commission Work Session Minutes 2025.04.08 
B. City Commission Joint Work Session Minutes 2025.04.22 
C. City Commission Mee�ng Minutes 2025.04.22 
D. Marina Update – April 2025 
E. Parks Advisory Commitee Minutes 2025.02.10 
F. Monthly Finance Report – March 2025 
G. Warrenton Community Library Computer Grant  

4. Commissioner Reports 

5. Public Comment 

6. Public Hearings  
A. Fluoride Supplementa�on; Ordinance No. 1293  

7. Business Items 

A. Considera�on of Raw Waterline RP-2 Project Contract Award  
B. Considera�on of Revised Amendment #3 – Hammond Transmission Waterline 

8. Discussion Items 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 1 of 50

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/5332386326?pwd=VHNVVXU5blkxbDZ2YmxISWpha0dhUT09#success
mailto:cityrecorder@warrentonoregon.us
mailto:cityrecorder@warrentonoregon.us


Warrenton City Hall is accessible to the disabled.  An interpreter for the hearing impaired may be requested under the terms of 
ORS 192.630 by contac�ng Dawne Shaw, City Recorder, at 503-861-0823 at least 48 hours in advance of the mee�ng so 
appropriate assistance can be provided. 

9. Good of the Order 

10.  Execu�ve Session 
Under the authority of ORS 192.660(2)(i); to review and evaluate the employment-related performance 
of the chief executive officer of any public body, a public officer, employee or staff member who does 
not request an open hearing. 

11.   Adjournment  

 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 2 of 50



 

 

Warrenton City Commission  
Work Session Minutes 4.07.2025  
Page: 1 of 2 

City of Warrenton City Commission 
Work Session Minutes 

City Hall, 225 S. Main Warrenton, OR 97146 
Tuesday, April 7, 2025  

City Commission work session called to order at 5:15 pm. 

Commission Members Present  Excused  
Gerald Poe X   
Jessica Sollaccio  X  
Tom Dyer  X  
Paul Mitchell (left at 6pm) X  
Henry Balensifer, Mayor X  

 
Staff Members Present   
City Manager Esther Moberg  Finance Director Jessica Barrett 
City Recorder Dawne Shaw Harbormaster Jessica McDonald 
Public Works Director Kevin Gorman Police Chief Mathew Workman 
Fire Chief Brian Alsbury  

 
Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Review:  

Harbormaster Jessica McDonald began a review of the Marina CIP projects. Mayor Balensifer asked for 
clarification on inner basin dock replacement; McDonald noted the dock replacement will be moved 
from the CIP to the operating budget; clarification and brief discussion continued.   

Police Chief Mathew Workman reviewed his CIP projects. He stated they are watching the tariffs, 
noting the potential for increased vehicle costs. He noted the concern about the lack of ballistic glass 
on the customer service window, and stated he would like to replace it. Discussion continued on 
employee safety measures. Chief Workman continued his review of the CIP, noting a proposed filing 
system, and a redesign of the workspace in the front office. Brief discussion followed on police vehicle 
lifespan, tariffs and vehicle availability, and Warrenton’s pursuit policy.  

Fire Chief Brian Alsbury reviewed the Fire Department CIP projects, beginning with vehicle 
replacement; brief discussion ensued on the age and condition of the fire vehicles. Chief Alsbury 
continued his review of the fire department CIP. Discussion followed on the portion of the Tansy Point 
lease revenue that goes toward the ladder truck loan debt. There was brief discussion on grant funds 
and EMS/ambulance services.  

City Manager Esther Moberg reviewed the Admin/City Hall CIP, noting the generator replacement; 
discussion followed. (Commissioner Mitchell was excused from the meeting at 6:00 pm for his day job.) 
Moberg continued the review of the General Fund and Quincy Robinson CIP projects. Review followed 
on the Tansy Point CIP, noting the anode replacement. Discussion continued on the Tansy Point lease 
agreement and the responsibility of the maintenance and insurance for the sheet piles. Staff noted 
they would look into whether the sheet piles are on the asset list.   

3.A

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 3 of 50



Warrenton City Commission  
Work Session Minutes 4.07.2025 
Page: 2 of 2 

Public Works Director Kevin Gorman began his review of the Public Works Capital Improvement 
projects, beginning with water; raw water transmission line; brief discussion followed on the selling of 
water to Gearhart. CIP review continued on the Hammond waterline. Gorman began review of the  
N. Main/NW 7th Place project, noting this project is listed in both the water and streets budgets; brief
discussion followed. Review of the CIP continued. Moberg requested to push out the NW 7th and N.
Main project to 2027-2028, to allow funds to be allocated for the WWTP; the commission was in
agreement. Mayor Balensifer stated he would like the city to communicate with the property owners
the year prior to the NW 7th/N. Main project moving forward, to get some buy in on the sewer
connections. Review of the Public Works CIP continued. Bicycle and pedestrian concerns on SW 9th

were discussed; Commissioner Poe suggested a flashing light with a button to push at each end of the
walkway; it was noted for the record they will put a pin in the SW 9th street project, pending further
review. CIP review continued. It was noted the CIP will come back for final adoption in June.

At 6:54 pm, Mayor Balensifer adjourned the work session. 

Approved: 

Attest: 
Henry A. Balensifer III, Mayor 

Dawne Shaw, CMC, City Recorder 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 4 of 50



 

 

Warrenton City Commission  
Joint Work Session Minutes 4.22.2025  
Page: 1 of 2 

City of Warrenton City Commission 
Planning Commission 

Joint Work Session Minutes 
City Hall, 225 S. Main Warrenton, OR 97146 

Tuesday, April 22, 2025  

City Commission joint work session called to order at 5:00 pm. 
 

Commission Members Present  Excused  
Gerald Poe X   
Jessica Sollaccio  X  
Tom Dyer  X  
Paul Mitchell X  
Henry Balensifer, Mayor X  

 
Planning Commission Members Present  Excused  
Tony Faletti X   
Dan Heath X  
Chris Hayward X   
Mike Moha X  
Colin Atkinson 

 
X 

Karin Hopper X  
Cynthia O’Reilly   X 

 
Staff Members Present   
City Manager Esther Moberg  Deputy City Recorder Hanna Bentley 
City Recorder Dawne Shaw Planning Director Jeff Adams 
Interim Planning Director Scott Fregonese  

 

Interim Planning Director/3J Consulting Planner Scott Fregonese briefly discussed updates to the 
middle housing code. He noted that the project is funded by a Department of Land Conservation and 
Development (DLCD) grant. He stated that the code is not currently in compliance with the state’s 
housing rules. 3J Consulting Planner Heather Austin gave a brief presentation summarizing the changes 
with ADUs, duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes, townhouses and cottage clusters. The commissioners 
noted their concerns with ADUs, parking and setback requirements. It was noted that there are specific 
state requirements for parking and that any parking requirements for duplexes will also apply to single 
family homes. I was noted that they could have a required parking space size for off street parking. 

At 6:01 pm., Mayor Balensifer recessed the work session and called the City Commission Meeting to 
order.  

At 6:02pm, Mayor Balensifer reconvened the work session. 

 

3.B

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 5 of 50



Warrenton City Commission  
Joint Work Session Minutes 4.22.2025 
Page: 2 of 2 

It was noted that there is a range of opinions and that Austin and Fregonese will take feedback from 
this meeting and return with proposals for the Planning Commission and City Commission.  

At 6:12 pm, Mayor Balensifer adjourned the joint work session. 

Approved: 

Attest: 
Henry A. Balensifer III, Mayor 

Dawne Shaw, CMC, City Recorder 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 6 of 50



 

 

Warrenton City Commission  
Meeting Minutes 4.22.2025  
Page: 1 of 4 

City of Warrenton City Commission 
Minutes 

City Hall, 225 S. Main Warrenton, OR 97146 
Tuesday, April 22, 2025  

1. City Commission meeting called to order at 6:01 pm. 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

At 6:01 pm, Mayor Balensifer recessed the regular city commission meeting and announced they will 
continue the joint work session.  
 
At 6:12 pm, Mayor Balensifer reconvened the regular meeting.  

Commission Members Present Excused 
Gerald Poe X  
Jessica Sollaccio  X  
Tom Dyer  X  
Paul Mitchell X  
Henry Balensifer, Mayor X  

 
Staff Members Present   
City Manager Esther Moberg  City Recorder Dawne Shaw  
Fire Chief Brian Alsbury Public Works Director Kevin Gorman 
Interim Planning Director Scott Fregonese  

City Manager Esther Moberg requested to remove 7D and table it until the next meeting; there were 
no objections.   
  

3. Consent Calendar  
*Items on the Consent Calendar have previously been discussed and/or are considered routine. Approval of 
the Consent Calendar requires a motion, a second, and no discussion, unless requested by a member of the 
City Commission.    

A. City Commission Mee�ng Minutes 2025.04.08 
B. Monthly Finance Report – January 2025 
C. Monthly Finance Report – February 2025 
D. Police Department Monthly Report – March 2025   

 
Motion: Move to approve the consent calendar as presented. 
Moved: Poe 
Seconded: Dyer  Aye Nay Abstain Recused 
Vote: 
 
 

Poe X    
Sollaccio X    
Dyer  X    
Mitchell X    

3.C

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 7 of 50



 

 

Warrenton City Commission  
Meeting Minutes 4.22.2025  
Page: 2 of 4 

Balensifer X    
Passed: 5/0 

 
4. Commissioner Reports  

 
Commissioner Sollaccio reviewed the Spruce Up Warrenton Egg Hunt and thanked Commissioner 
Mitchell for stepping in as liaison.  
 
Commissioner Mitchell reviewed the Northwest Housing Task Force, and ColPAC (Columbia Pacific 
Economic Development District) meetings he attended. He noted that CMH (Columbia Memorial 
Hospital) lost twenty-five million dollars from FEMA. 
 
Mayor Balensifer noted that task force rosters are starting to get solidified. He discussed the 
upcoming Parks Alliance cleanup. He noted whales he saw at Seafarer's Park. 
 

5. Public Comment  
 
Mike Balensifer noted he is impartial on fluoride and clarified that staff must suit up for fluoride, not 
chlorine. 
 

6. Public Hearings – None  

7. Business Items  
 

A. Presentation – Recology Rate Review: 
 
Dan Blue, Recology Government & Community Relations Manager, gave a brief presentation on 
recycling rates. He noted the increase is 2.1% and the impact to customers is about $0.20 a 
month; Katie Hardesty, Recology North Coast Operations Manager, gave a few comments; Blue 
continued his rate review. Brief discussion followed on the rates and the recycling process.  
  

B. Consideration of Goal Exception for Flowlane Dredge Material; Ord. No. 1283: 
 
Interim Planning Director Scott Fregonese noted he does not have any further staff comments 
to present; Mayor Balensifer asked Bill Ryan, from the Department of State Lands if he was fine 
with the 30 day delay in the effective date; Ryan noted he is fine with the 30 days.   

Motion: Move to conduct the second reading, by title only, of Ordinance No. 1283. 
Moved: Poe 
Seconded: Dyer Aye Nay Abstain Recused 
 Sollaccio X    

Dyer  X    
Poe X    
Mitchell  X    
Balensifer  X    

Passed: 5/0 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 8 of 50



 

 

Warrenton City Commission  
Meeting Minutes 4.22.2025  
Page: 3 of 4 

Mayor Balensifer conducted the second reading, by title only, of Ordinance No. 1283; An 
Ordinance Approving the Changes to the Warrenton Comprehensive Plan as Described in 
Ordinance Number 1283, Subject to the Recommended Conditions of Approval.  

Motion: Move to adopt Ordinance No. 1283. 
Moved: Poe 
Seconded: Dyer  Aye Nay Abstain Recused 
 Sollaccio X    

Dyer  X    
Poe X    
Mitchell  X    
Balensifer  X    

Passed: 5/0 

C. Consideration of Professional Services Contract – Raw Waterline Replacement Project:  

Public Works Director Kevin Gorman reviewed a proposed contract for the raw waterline 
replacement project. He discussed the current state of the waterline.  

Motion: 

Move to approve the amended and restated contract for professional 
consulting services with Consor North America, Inc., and authorize the 
Mayor to execute Task Order 1 for the design of RP-3 and RP-4 in the 
amount of $258,761.  

Moved: Sollaccio 
Seconded: Mitchell Aye Nay Abstain Recused 
 Sollaccio X    

Dyer  X    
Poe X    
Mitchell  X    
Balensifer  X    

Passed: 5/0 

D. Consideration of Update to Low-Pressure Sewer System Homeowner Packet and Policy: 
 

Tabled until the next meeting. 
 

E. Consideration of Auction of 2006 John Deere Tractor:   

Gorman reviewed the request to auction off a surplus 2006 John Deere tractor through Gov Deals 
Auctions.  

Motion: Move to approve the auction of the 2006 John Deere tractor for the 
benefit of the City of Warrenton.  

Moved: Dyer 
Seconded: Mitchell  Aye Nay Abstain Recused 
Vote: 
 
 

Poe X    
Sollaccio X    
Dyer  X    
Mitchell X    

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 9 of 50



Warrenton City Commission 
Meeting Minutes 4.22.2025 
Page: 4 of 4 

Balensifer X 
Passed: 5/0 

F. Consideration of Municipal Judge Contract:

City Manager Esther Moberg discussed the City Municipal Judge Agreement. She noted that
there were two applicants, and the highest scoring was selected. The agreement is with Ashley
Flukinger with a start date of June 1, 2025. She noted that if the contract is approved the
current judge would be released with a 30 day notice. Mayor Balensifer summarized the
interview process that took place.

 Motion: Move to approve the new City Municipal Judge Agreement. 
Moved: Mitchell 
Seconded: Poe Aye Nay Abstain Recused 
Vote: Poe X 

Sollaccio X 
Dyer X 
Mitchell X 
Balensifer X 

Passed: 5/0 

Mayor Balensifer asked if the commission has a preference on the review process for the City 
Manager. Consensus was to schedule an executive session at the next meeting date.  

8. Discussion items – None

9. Good of the Order - None

10. Executive Session - None

11. Adjournment

There being no further business, Mayor Balenisfer adjourned the meeting at 6:43 pm. 

Approved: 

Attest: 
Henry A. Balensifer III, Mayor 

Dawne Shaw, CMC, City Recorder 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 10 of 50



STAFF UPDATE

OVERALL DOCK REPAIRS UPDATE

Staff recently completed
repairs on the west side of H
Dock at Warrenton Marina,
adding eight newly usable
slips available for moorage
rental. 

WARRENTON H DOCK
REPAIR COMPLETED

WARRENTON & HAMMOND MARINA

Staff have mobilized to the
Hammond Marina to begin
repairs on D Dock. They
are working efficiently to
minimize any disruptions to
the launch ramp, and
repairs are expected to be
completed by mid-May.

We will share more on this
repair once it is completed. 

LOW TIDE EVENT
APRIL 28  2025TH

The combination of extreme low
and high tides, along with our
aging piles, caused significant
damage to E Dock at Warrenton
Marina and D Dock at Hammond
Marina. Our staff responded
immediately, completing repairs
and implementing preventive
measures for the upcoming tide
cycles.

The good news is that we have a
strategic plan in place to address
the failing piles over the next few
years. The permitting process is
nearly complete, and we have
budgeted for new piles in our
Capital Improvement Plan (CIP).
With these improvements, we are
hopeful we will see far less damage
from piles in the future.

APRIL 29  2025TH

Staff are doing an outstanding job making significant
improvements in both the Warrenton and Hammond basins.
Minor setbacks were quickly addressed and corrected the same
day they occurred, ensuring steady progress and minimal
disruption.

HAMMOND D DOCK
REPAIR UNDERWAY

3.D

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 11 of 50



City of Warrenton Parks Advisory Board
Meeting Minutes

City Hall, 225 S. Main Warrenton, OR 97146

Monday,February 10, 2025

1. Parks Advisory Board meeting called to order at 4:03pm

2. Pledge of Allegiance

Parks Board Members

Ron Dyer
Sammi Beechan

Bert Little

Brooke Terry

Sara Long, Chair

Present

x
x
x
x

Excused

x

Staff Members Present

Public Works Interim Director, Dale McDowell

PW Executive Secretary, Savannah Cummings

3. Consent Calendar

*ltems on the Consent Calendar have previously been discussed and/or are considered routine. Approval of the

Consent Calendar requires a motion, a second, and no discussion, unless requested by a member of the Parks

Advisory Board.

A. Parks Advisory Board Meeting Minutes -12.09.2024

Motion:

Moved:

Seconded:

Passed:

Move to approve the consent calendar as presented.

Chair Sara Long

Bert Little

Dyer
Beechan

Little

Terry

Long

Aye

x
x
x
x

Nays Absent

x
Recused

4/0

4. Reports

A. Warrenton Kids Inc.

i. No representatives were present.

B. Public Works Operations - Dale McDowell, Interim Public Works Director

Warrenton Parks Advisory Board

Meeting Minutes 8.13.2024

Page: 1 of 3

3.E

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 12 of 50



i. Public Works Interim Director Dale McDowell shared with the board the plans to move forward

with resurfacing the tennis courts located at Quincy Robinson Park. After researching the best

color for the resurfacing, Public Works recommended resurfacing the courts to be blue, as this

color allows better visuals for tennis and pickleball play. The board unanimously agreed that

blue courts would be acceptable. Dale McDowell confirmed that the pickleball lines would also

be painted on the tennis court in a different color.

ii. Public Works also reported that quotes for the replacement of the Carruthers Memorial Dog

Park restroom roof have been requested. The roof sustained damage in the winter months and

has been repaired temporarily until the full roof can be replaced.

C. Warrenton Parks Alliance - Brooke Terry

i. Brooke Terry reported that the Parks alliance would be meeting Tuesday February 11th and

reported that the Parks Alliance is still considering options for barriers to protect Triangle Park in

Hammond from car damage. Trees and concrete barriers were discussed. The board was

reminded that this location is within the Oregon Department of Transportation right of way,

therefore permissions would likely need to be obtained through them. The Warrenton Parks

Alliance also presented several options for outdoor fitness equipment, focusing their search on

the preferences of the public gathered through survey. Additionally, the Warrenton Parks

Alliance is actively pursuing different fundraising opportunities for upcoming events. They are

currently working on the logistics of a bottle drop fundraiser and are preparing more ways to

raise money for the parks within the community.

5. Business Items

A. City Website Trials Map List

i. The board was informed of several parks that Warrenton Parks Alliance members were to visit

and assess the condition of. The Berma Road Trail is maintained by Ft. Stevens, and Spirit Loop

Trail is also not city maintained. Chairperson Sara Long asked that these trails be removed from

the city website. Further investigation into the ownership and maintainer of the Creekside Trail

will be made in the future. Additionally, Bever Trail will be investigated to ascertain its condition,
and inquiries will be made to find the appointed maintainer. Board Member Brooke Terry asked

that special attention be given to the Parks and Trails section of the city website and requested

that maps and information be updated in the near future.

B. Community Garden Relocation

i. Public Works Interim Director Dale McDowell reported that Public Works is also working on
getting quotes for the fencing surrounding the community gardens as this work will need to be

contracted out to ensure quality and longevity of the fence. The fence will be 8 feet tall to help
prevent wildlife from entering the garden. Prior to the meeting, City Manager Esther Moberg

sent an email out with the anticipated schedule for the community gardens schedule of work in

anticipation of an early May grand-opening. Public Works will dedicate time to finish clearing

out the land and prepare for the installation of the fence. Public Works will also install two hose
faucets within the fenced area.

Warrenton Parks Advisory Board

Meeting Minutes 8.13.2024

Page: 2 of 3
5.13.2025 Commission Packet 

Page 13 of 50



C. WIKI Field

i. Board member Bert Little reported that the fields are getting dragged and prepped for baseball.
There were no major updates regarding the sprinkler system on field two as board member Ron

Dyer was absent from the meeting.

6. Discussion Items

A. Adopt-A-Park Policy

i. This discussion item was mistakenly left on the agenda. Per the previous Parks Advisory Board

Meeting held on December 9 2024, this topic will be tabled until more information is presented.
No discussion was had on this topic.

7. Adjournment

There being no further business, Chairperson Sara Long adjourned the meeting at 4:57 p.m.

Approved:

Sara Long, Parks Advisory Board Chair

ivannah Cummings, Public Works Executiv^-Secretary

Warrenton Parks Advisory Board

Meeting Minutes 8.13.2024

Page:3 of 3
5.13.2025 Commission Packet 

Page 14 of 50



     Current  1 year ago 

 Interest Rates: 

LGIP :  4.64%   5.20% 

Prime Rate: 7.50%    8.50% 

 CPI-U change:  2.40%    3.50% 

 Unemployment Rates: 

Clatsop County:   4.5%      4.0%                    

Oregon:       4.6%    4.1% 

U.S.:  4.2%  3.9% 

 Utility Bills mailed  3,147 

 New Service Connections   0 

 Reminder Letters     304 

 Door Hangers    83 

 Water Service Discontinued       15 

 Counter payments   381 

 Mail payments       896 

 Auto Pay Customers/pmts    636 

 Online (Web) payments   1,642 

 Checks issued    367 

Financial Narrative as of March 31, 2025 

Note:  Revenues and expenses should 
track at 9/12 or 75% of the budget.   

General Fund:   Year to date revenues 
amount to $4,459,831, which is 78.37% of 
the budget, compared to the prior year 
amount of $5,075,001, which was 80.65% 
of the budget and are down by $615,170. 
Increases are shown in property taxes, 
franchise fees, transient room tax, planning 
fees, police charges, fire charges, lease 
receipts, food pod receipts and proceeds 
from sale of assets and are offset by de-
creases in state revenue sharing, municipal 
court, park charges, miscellaneous, inter-
est, donations and transfers from other 
funds. 

Expenses year to date amount to 
$4,558,638, which is 67.08% of the budget, 
compared to the prior year amount of 
$4,799,055, which was 71.34% of the 
budget.  All departments are tracking under 
budget.   

WBL:  Business license revenue amounts 
to $84,474, compared to $83,390 at this 
time last year. Year to date licenses issued 
is 756 compared to 743 at this time last 
year. 

Building Department:  Permit revenues 
this month amount to $2,503 and $182,845 
year to date, which is 102.95% of the budg-
eted amount.  Last year to date permit rev-
enue was $96,002, 35.82% of the budget. 

State Tax Street:  State gas taxes re-
ceived this month amount to $44,627 for 

fuel sold in February and $352,435 year 
to date.  City fuels taxes received this 
month amount to $27,030 for fuel sold in 
January and are $216,055 year to date.  
Total gas taxes received year to date are 
$568,490 compared to $554,925 at this 
time last year. 

Warrenton Marina:  Total revenues to 
date are $729,224, 100% of the budget-
ed amount, compared to the prior year 
amount of $747,528, which was 99.94% 
of the budgeted amount.  There is 
$65,105 in moorage receivables out-
standing. 

Hammond Marina:  Total revenues to 
date are $467,118, 101.8% of the budg-
eted amount, compared to the prior year 
amount of $457,028, which was 109.3% 
of the budgeted amount.  There is $3,802 
in moorage receivables outstanding. 

Of the total outstanding receivables: 

$12,606 (18.3%) is current, 

$7,028 (10.2%) is 30-60 days past due, 

$2,019 (2.9%) is 60-90 days past due 
and 

$47,254 (68.6%) is over 90 days past 
due. 

Water Fund:  Utility fees charged this 
month are $188,216 and $95,208, and 
$2,094,474 and $1,499,760 year to date 
for in-city and out-city respectively and 
totals $3,594,234 and is 82.2% of the 

May 13, 2025 Volume 18, Issue 9 

Economic Indicators Department Statistics Current and Pending Projects 

 2026-2031 Capital Improvement Pro-
gram  

 2025-2026 Budget Finalization 

 Preparing for year end 

 Finalize ARPA Reporting 

budget.  Last year at this time, year to date 
fees were $2,014,578 and $1,240,152, for in
-city and out-city, respectively and totaled
$3,254,730.

Sewer Fund:  Utility fees charged this 
month are $268,522 and $2,399,825 year to 
date, which is 77.5% of the budget.  Last 
year at this time, year to date fees were 
$2,250,659.  Shoreline Sanitary fees year to 
date are $115,396.  Total revenues year to 
date are $2,515,158 compared to 
$2,360,554 at this time last year, an in-
crease of $154,604. 

Storm Sewer:  Utility fees (20% of sewer 
fees) this month are $53,678 and $479,717 
year to date and is 77.7% of the budget.  
Last year to date revenues were $449,933 
which was 82.1% of the budget. 

Sanitation Fund:  Service fees charged this 
month for garbage and recycling were 
$94,142 and $21,726, and $857,462 and 
$194,833, year to date, and are 76.55% and 
81.66% of the budget respectively. 

Community Center Fund:  Rental revenue 
year to date is $68,224 and is 341.1% of the 
budget.  Last year to date revenue was 
$53,251, which was 266.3% of the budget. 

Monthly Finance Report 
March 2025 

CITY OF WARRENTON 

FINANCE DEPARTMENT 

3.F

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 15 of 50



Financial data as of March 2025 

Page 2 

City of Warrenton 

Finance Department 
 

Current Year % of

Month to Date Budget Budget

Beginning Fund Balance 2,646,253  2,602,003    1,850,000        140.65      

Plus:  Revenues 308,140     4,459,831    5,690,803        78.37        (see details of revenue, page 4)

Less:  Expenditures

Municipal Court 16,016       136,548       212,822           64.16        

Admin/Comm/Fin(ACF) 85,742       1,199,434    1,596,972        75.11        

Planning 27,145       208,657       444,512           46.94        

Police 225,421     1,683,094    2,678,362        62.84        

Fire 82,623       930,476       1,233,234        75.45        

Parks 14,250       129,651       286,839           45.20        

Transfers -              270,778       270,778           100.00      

Total Expenditures 451,197     4,558,638    6,723,519        67.80        

Ending Fund Balance 2,503,196  2,503,196    817,284           306.28      

Current Year % of Current Year % of

Month to Date Budget Budget Month to Date Budget Budget

Beginning Fund Balance 185,615     150,786       130,000           115.99      513,917       483,082      460,000         105.02     

Plus:  Revenues 1,336          91,541         65,800             139.12      4,587            209,038      206,480         101.24     

Less:  Expenditures 7,159          62,535         77,038             81.17        28,662          202,278      481,132         42.04       

Ending Fund Balance 179,792     179,792       118,762           151.39      489,842       489,842      185,348         264.28     

Current Year % of Current Year % of

Month to Date Budget Budget Month to Date Budget Budget

Beginning Fund Balance 3,163,522  3,241,761    3,300,000        98.24        736,844       451,107      410,000         110.03     

Plus:  Revenues 88,875       765,289       4,350,625        17.59        24,547          729,224      729,364         99.98       

Less:  Expenditures 36,723       791,376       5,215,225        15.17        67,812          486,752      892,096         54.56       

Ending Fund Balance 3,215,674  3,215,674    2,435,400        132.04      693,579       693,579      247,268         280.50     

General Fund

Building Department

State Tax Street

WBL

Warrenton Marina

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 16 of 50



Financial data as of March 2025, continued 

 

Page 3 
City of Warrenton 

Finance Department 
 

Current Year % of Current Year % of

Month to Date Budget Budget Month to Date Budget Budget

Beginning Fund Balance 493,456     322,296       275,000           117.20      3,891,934    2,101,761  2,000,000      105.09     

Plus:  Revenues 8,328          467,118       459,022           101.76      332,152       4,078,639  7,381,792      55.25       

Less:  Expenditures 26,103       313,733       563,469           55.68        176,882       2,133,196  7,703,880      27.69       

Ending Fund Balance 475,681     475,681       170,553           278.91      4,047,204    4,047,204  1,677,912      241.20     

Current Year % of Current Year % of

Month to Date Budget Budget Month to Date Budget Budget

Beginning Fund Balance 4,727,470  3,355,550    3,100,000        108.24      2,200,967    1,837,304  1,515,000      121.27     

Plus:  Revenues 334,862     3,146,799    3,430,625        91.73        61,786          694,892      1,737,264      40.00       

Less:  Expenditures 170,192     1,610,109    4,990,921        32.26        39,533          308,976      2,283,391      13.53       

Ending Fund Balance 4,892,140  4,892,240    1,539,704        317.74      2,223,220    2,223,220  968,873         229.46     

Current Year % of Current Year % of

Month to Date Budget Budget Month to Date Budget Budget

Beginning Fund Balance 643,576     593,041       560,000           105.90      82,775          62,718        60,000            104.53     

Plus:  Revenues 119,577     1,088,210    1,388,710        78.36        2,870            76,635        26,800            285.95     

Less:  Expenditures 104,412     1,022,510    1,432,337        71.39        2,848            56,556        66,716            84.77       

Ending Fund Balance 658,741     658,741       516,373           127.57      82,797          82,797        20,084            412.26     

Current Year % of Current Year % of

Month to Date Budget Budget Month to Date Budget Budget

Beginning Fund Balance 308,267     229,299       220,000           104.23      6,662            6,487          6,400              101.36     

Plus:  Revenues 11,413       288,708       283,879           101.70      84,618          876,176      1,800,000      48.68       

Less:  Expenditures 21,578       219,905       333,445           65.95        84,597          875,980      1,806,400      48.49       

Ending Fund Balance 298,102     298,102       170,434           174.91      6,683            6,683          -                  -           

Warrenton Urban Renewal Agency

Library

Sanitation Fund

Water FundHammond Marina

Sewer Fund

Community Center

Storm Sewer

Capital Projects Fund

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 17 of 50



Financial data as of March 2024, continued 

 

Page 4 
City of Warrenton 

Finance Department 
 

General Fund 2,938,748  Warrenton Marina 649,552            Storm Sewer 2,197,434            

WBL 179,712     Hammond Marina 476,766            Sanitation Fund 580,442               

Building Department 497,299     Water Fund 3,844,756         Community Center 84,503                  

State Tax Street 3,321,893  Sewer Fund 4,907,384         Library 305,017               

Warrenton Urban Renewal Agency

Capital Projects 25,240       

Debt Service 1,882,445  

Actual as

 a 

% of (over)

General Fund Collection 2024-2025 Current under

Revenues Frequency Budget Budget March 2025 March 2024 budget

Property taxes-current AP 1,428,999              94.02 1,343,519             1,297,332            85,480                         

Property taxes-prior AP 30,000                    66.56 19,967                   21,849                  10,033                         

County land sales A -                          0.00 -                              -                        -                                

Franchise fees MAQ 695,225                 74.12 515,287                454,347               179,938                       

COW - franchise fees M 354,629                 75.34 267,184                255,137               87,445                         

Transient room tax Q 650,000                 62.60 406,885                396,406               243,115                       

Liquor licenses A 625                         100.00 625                        625                       -                                

State revenue sharing MQ 223,378                 46.76 104,454                124,011               118,924                       

Municipal court M 94,200                    51.58 48,591                   57,625                  45,609                         

Planning Fees I 103,000                 49.56 51,050                   36,262                  51,950                         

Police charges I 24,000                    83.07 19,936                   15,388                  4,064                           

Fire charges SM, I 119,018                 111.79 133,047                88,925                  (14,029)                        

Park charges I -                          0.00 610                        780                       -                                

Housing rehab loan payments I -                          0.00 -                              -                        -                                

Miscellaneous I 5,000                      185.40 9,270                     49,026                  (4,270)                          

Interest M 90,000                    108.01 97,211                   104,028               (7,211)                          

Lease receipts M 272,758                 77.38 211,047                180,745               61,711                         

Food pod receipts M -                          0.00 24,000                   21,870                  (24,000)                        

Proceeds from sale of assets I -                          0.00 4,714                     3,761                    (4,714)                          

Donations I -                          0.00 871                       -                                

Grants I -                          0.00 -                        -                                

Sub-total 4,090,832              79.63 3,257,397             3,108,988            833,435                       

Transfers from other funds I 3,000                      0.00 3,000                     795,150               -                                

Overhead M 1,596,971              75.11 1,199,434             1,170,863            397,537                       

Total revenues 5,690,803              78.37 4,459,831             5,075,001            1,230,972                   

M - monthly   S - semi-annual

Q - quarterly   I - intermittently

SM - Semi-annual in January then monthly   MQ - Monthly, cigarette and liquor and Quarterly, revenue sharing 

AP - As paid by taxpayer beginning in November   A - annual

MAQ - Century Link, NW Nat & Charter-quarterly,  

           all others monthly

Note:  Budget columns do not include contingencies as a separate line item but are included in the ending fund balance.  Unless the Commission 

authorizes the use of contingency, these amounts should roll over to the following year beginning fund balance.  For budget details, please refer

to the City of Warrenton Adopted Budget for fiscal year ending June 30, 2025.  Budget amounts reflect budget adjustments approved by the

Commission during the fiscal year.  Information and data presented in this report is unaudited.

Collections/Accruals

Year to date

($) Cash Balances as of March 31, 2025

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 18 of 50



City Commission Agenda Memo
Meeting Date:

From:

Subject:

May 13, 2025
Josh Saranpaa, Library Director

Acceptance of New Computer Grant

Summary:

The Warrenton Community Library (WCL) provides four (4) public computers for the community to use.

The computers WCL currently have are ten (10) years old/ and have become difficult to use (freezing,

won't turn on, terribly slow). As a result, we have applied for funding through the Braemer Charitable

Trust in the amount of $9,000 to replace all of these public computer terminals, and outfit them with

new keyboards, mouses, and word processing software.

The Braemer Charitable Trust has informed us that we are being awarded the full $9,000. I am requesting

permission from the Commission to accept these funds to ensure we can continue to provide reliable

computer use for our community.

Fiscal Impact:

This grant will allow WCL to replace all of the public computer terminals without the need to dip into

other library funds.

Approved by City Manager:

3.G

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 19 of 50



City Commission Agenda Memo
Meeting Date: May 13th, 2025

From: Kevin German, Public Works Director

Subject: Public Hearing - Repealing Municipal Code Chapter 8.20 -

Fluoride Supplementation

Summary:

The Public Works Department recommends repealing Municipal Code Chapter 8.20 - Fluoride

Supplementation, which mandates the addition of fluoride to the City's public water supply. This

recommendation follows a recent internal supply chain analysis, which identified that the fluoride

currently used is sourced exclusively from China and subject to existing and potentially increasing import

tariffs. Staff now estimates a 145% cost increase due to these tariffs, with the potential for further

escalation.

In addition to the financial impact, there is increasing community concern regarding the health

implications of fluoridating the public water system, particularly given that fluoride supplementation is not

a federally required practice. Staff have also raised safety concerns related to the handling and storage of

the concentrated fluoride chemical.

There are no known domestic suppliers offluoride additives. Furthermore, because the chemical is

classified as hazardous, the City incurs added costs associated with hazardous materials storage fees and

increased shipping costs due to efforts to remain under regulated weight thresholds. Ceasing fluoride

supplementation would eliminate these costs and reduce operational risks.

Recommendation/Suggested Motion:

/// move to conduct the first reading, by title only, of Ordinance No. 1293; an Ordinance Repealing Section

8.20 of the Warrenton Municipal Code, Relating to Fluoride Supplementation and Declaring Findings and

Rationale."

Alternative:

Other action as deemed appropriate by the City Commission

OR
None recommended

Fiscal Impact:

Removing fluoride supplementation is expected to save approximately $44,000 annually, depending on

the volume of water produced and tariff increases. This figure includes avoided costs from material

purchases, hazardous materials fees, increased shipping charges, and maintenance impacts.

Attachments:

(All supporting documentation, i.e., maps, exhibits, etc., must be attached to this memorandum.)

• Ordinance 1293

Approved by City Manager:

6.A

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 20 of 50



ORDINANCE NO. 1293

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 8.20 OF THE WARRENTON MUNICIPAL CODE,

RELATING TO FLUORIDE SUPPLEHENTATION, AND DECLARING FINDINGS AND

RATIONALE.

WHEREAS, the City of Warrenton has experienced rising costs associated with fluoride

supplementation-including increased expenses for fluoride chemicals, shipping, secure

storage, and safe handling-which have placed a growingfinancial burden on the City's

water supply operations; and

WHEREAS, no state or federal law requires the CityofWarrentonto addfluorideto its

public drinkingwater supply, and the requirement to ftuoridate is imposed solely by

Section 8.20 of the Warrenton Municipal Code itself; and

WHEREAS, the City Commission finds that in light of these increased costs and the lack of

any external mandate, it is in the public interest to eliminate this self-imposed requirement

and manage City resources more efficiently;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF

WARRENTON, OREGON, as follows:

Section 1. Repeal of Fluoride Supplementation Requirement. Warrenton Municipal

Code Section 8.20, titled "Ruoride Supplementation" (WMC §§ 8.20.010 and 8.20.020), is

hereby repealed in its entirety. All provisions of the City's code or regulations that required

the City to provide fluoride supplementation to its public water supply are hereby revoked.

Section 2. Effective Date. This ordinance shall take effect and be in full force thirty (30)

days after its adoption by the City Commission.

First Reading:

Second Reading:

Adopted by the City Commission of the City of Warrenton, Oregon this_day of

_, 2025.

Approved:

Henry A. Balensiferlll, Mayor

Attest:

Dawne Shaw, CMC, City Recorder

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 21 of 50



^^L^ ^0 ^"-^^^^(-Y\

'iTZf -r//^ ^ V / ( € ^h

^ -y -p ^ -°^7 7'/ //S7"C-C-

c0/, y^-7_/

• s'^f / ^ ff

\^ -0 J Q ^-7,?/-o

J ^-^ Q

1-7.7-0^7 jt. ^ 0 ^ i

^b / ^ {? ^/y- ^ c/ ./^v ^/p ^5^"^^

.^/r.r/z^^^ /y^
^ °d^ ^ J ^ t-

CO/

6.A Public Hearing Comments

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 22 of 50



April 21, 2025

CityofWarrenton

Attn: Warrenton City Commission

225 S Main Ave
Warrenton,OR 97146

RE: Fluoridated Water

Dear Mayor Balensifer and City Commissioners,

I appreciate the recent discussion about fluoridated water and the Commission's review of

health benefits, suppliers, and costs. That said, I would encourage the Warrenton City

Commission to continue to maintain the safety and quality of our drinkingwater and

provide fluoridated water for its customers.

Fluoride, or fluorine, is a naturally occurring mineral present in many foods and abundant

in nature. For over half a century, Warrenton has realized the benefits of fluoridated water.

Children that may not have had access to proper dental care have ultimately benefitted

from fluoride exposure through the public water supply. It's a cost-effective way to protect

children's teeth and prevent cavities while they are still developing and susceptible to

decay.

The City of Warrenton Water Treatment Plant serves more than Warrenton residents.

Customers outside the city limits as well as the many year-round visitors to the region

benefit from our safe drinking water. This population exceeds 1 0,000 people, the threshold

forfluoridesupplementation. The WarrentonWastewater Treatment Plant is also designed

to serve a population beyond our 6,000 residents.

The benefits outweigh the purchasing cost. The political and economic climate of the

moment should not be the driver of this discussion. Hopefully, collaboration with other

communities can secure the most reliable and stable supply.

I would urge the Warrenton City Commission to trust sources like the American Dental

Association, National Institute of Health, and the Centers for Disease Control and

Prevention. Continue to provide the benefits of fluoridated drinking water to customers.

Thank you,

MarkKujala
1715 EastwindTer
Hammond,OR 97146
(503)791-2513

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 23 of 50



<fe Outlook

Fluoride

From Lorinda Gayl <lorindagayl@gmail.com>

Date Sat 4/12/2025 9:36 AM

To Info <info@warrentonoregon.us>

To Whom It May Concern:

Yesterday I read that Warrenton is considering eliminating fluoride in our water. Since moving here in

2019, we have had a fluoride filter on our city water. We would be thrilled if the fluoride was removed so

we could dispense with the huge tank in our garage. I realize we probably don't have a vote, but if we

did, we would vote YES to eliminating fluoride in our water!

Very sincerely,

Lorinda Gayl
Sam Sevier

Surf Pines Landing Drive

Sent from my iPhone

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 24 of 50



^ Outlook

Letter to Commission: For Fluoride

From David Streetz <streetz@mac.com>

Date Thu 5/1/2025 7:58 AM

To Dawne Shaw <dshaw@warrentonoregon.us>

Good day,

I'm adding my voice to this discussion in favor of continuing the fluoridation of the public water supply.

Considering how much sugar and improper dental care continues in our communities, this simply act of

helping to prevent dental disease by continuing fluoridation. It is ann important, proper and an easy

policy to continue.

If the ADA can show decades of research proving that this works, let's save our children's teeth and

health and not turn the clock back 70 years.

We cannot give into unsubstantiated rhetoric claiming anything short of proven success.

We put chlorine into our water supply. Why? Because it prevents disease. Fluoride does the same thing, It

prevents disease. Going against the public's best interest is not why people get elected or are selected to

be public servants.

Simple put, do not stop the fluoridation of the public's water. See you on May 13th.

Most sincerely,

David Streetz

90822 Kennedy Rd.
Warrenton,OR97146

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 25 of 50



 

 
 
 

345 Park Blvd 
Itasca, IL 60143 
Phone: 630/626-6000 
Fax: 847/434-8000 
www.aap.org 

Executive Committee 

President  
Susan J. Kressly, MD, FAAP 

President-Elect 
Andrew D. Racine, MD, PhD, FAAP 

Immediate Past President 
Benjamin D. Hoffman, MD, FAAP 

Secretary/Treasurer 
Patricia Flanagan, MD, FAAP 

CEO/Executive Vice President 
Mark Del Monte, JD 

Board of Directors 

District I 
Patricia Flanagan, MD, FAAP 

District II 
Jeffrey Kaczorowski, MD, FAAP 

District III 
Lenore R. Jarvis, MD, MEd, FAAP 

District IV  
Patricia Purcell, MD, MBA, FAAP 

District V 
Jeannette “Lia” Gaggino, MD, FAAP 

District VI 
Claudia Preuschoff, MD, FAAP 

District VII 
Susan Buttross, MD, FAAP  

District VIII 
Greg Blaschke, MD, MPH, FAAP  

District IX 
Eric H. Ball, MD, FAAP 

District X 
Madeline M. Joseph, MD, FAAP 

At Large 
Angela M. Ellison, MD, MSc, FAAP 

At Large 
Kristina W. Rosbe, MD, FAAP 

At Large  
Joelle N. Simpson, MD, FAAP 

May 8, 2025 
 
Dawne Shaw, City Recorder 
City of Warrenton, Oregon 
Via email 
 
Dear Ms. Shaw, 
 
On behalf of the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP), a non-profit professional organization of 
67,000 primary care pediatricians, pediatric medical sub-specialists, and pediatric surgical specialists 
dedicated to the health, safety, and well-being of infants, children, adolescents, and young adults, I 
write to support the recommendations of the American Dental Association (ADA) and the American 
Academy of Pediatric Dentistry in stating that community water fluoridation is effective, safe, and 
prevents unnecessary dental disease, a costly and painful condition. 
 
The AAP is particularly concerned with the high rates of early childhood caries (tooth decay) in the 
United States and the detrimental effects this disease can have on children. Dental caries, although 
largely preventable, is the most common chronic disease in childhood, five times more common than 
asthma. Cavities can lead to severe health problems, including serious infection, debilitating pain, 
dietary and speech problems, and in rare cases, even death. Many children and families are unable to 
access timely dental care that is geographically feasible and affordable. 
 
The AAP supports community water fluoridation to help protect children’s teeth. Regular and frequent 
exposure to small amounts of fluoride is the best way to protect the teeth against caries. This exposure 
is readily accomplished by drinking water that has been optimally fluoridated throughout the day and 
brushing with fluoride toothpaste twice daily.1 Community-based water fluoridation intervention 
optimizes the level of fluoride in drinking water, resulting in pre-eruptive and post-eruptive protection 
of the teeth.  
 
Water fluoridation is a cost-effective means of preventing dental caries, with the lifetime cost per 
person equaling less than the cost of one dental restoration. In short, fluoridated water is the cheapest 
and most effective way to deliver anti-caries benefits to communities.2 Water fluoridation is effective 
and inexpensive, does not require daily adherence, and benefits everyone regardless of socioeconomic 
status.3 
 
The AAP continues its mission to ensure the health and well-being of all children, and, to this end, 
supports local and state efforts for children to have access to safe, optimally fluoridated water. If you 
require additional information, please contact Anne Edwards, MD, Chief Medical Officer, 
aedwards@aap.org. 
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
Susan J. Kressly, MD, FAAP 
President 
 
AE/hr 
 
1 Bright Futures Guidelines for the Health Supervision of Infants, Children, and Adolescents, 4th Edition. 2017. 
2 Fluoride Use in Caries Prevention in the Primary Care Setting. Pediatrics. Pediatrics December 2020, 146 (6). 
3 Early Childhood Caries in Indigenous Communities. Pediatrics. June 2021, 147 (6). 

 
5.13.2025 Commission Packet 

Page 26 of 50



Jackie Sanchez 
33032 Pacific Bellevue Lane 
Warrenton, OR 97146 
 
Subject: Support for the continuation of fluoridation of Warrenton water 
 
Mayor Balensifer and Commissioners of the City of Warrenton, 
 

My name is Jackie Sanchez and as residents of unincorporated Warrenton, my husband 

and I are consumers of Warrenton water. I am writing to you to express both concern over the 

current consideration to cease fluoridation of the public water, and strong support for the 

continuation of the practice. 

I have long believed that the role of government in public health is foundational to the 

well-being of any community. Elected officials and public institutions bear the responsibility of 

implementing policies that safeguard and promote the common good, especially when it comes 

to preventive health measures. Public health initiatives, such as water fluoridation or seat belt 

laws, are essential tools that enable governments to support healthier populations by reducing 

the incidence of preventable diseases or injuries. 

Fluoridation of public water supplies has long been recognized as a safe, cost-effective, 

and equitable way to prevent tooth decay across populations. Especially in communities with 

limited access to dental care or underserved populations who may struggle to afford routine 

dental visits and complementary fluoride products, like ours, fluoridated water serves as a 

critical public health intervention. Decades of scientific research have shown that it reduces the 

risk of cavities in both children and adults, helping ensure that good oral health is not a privilege 

reserved for the few, but a benefit extended to all residents. 

Maintaining water fluoridation is also a reflection of the kind of community we strive to be 

– one that values compassion, equity, and collective responsibility. It is a simple yet powerful act 

of looking out for our neighbors, especially children, seniors, and low-income families who are 

often the most vulnerable to health disparities. Through policies like water fluoridation, our local 

government can help foster a community that prioritizes health and fairness, reinforcing the idea 

that we all thrive when we care for one another. 

Below, I have included follow-up questions that I believe the commission has a 

responsibility to answer, and responses to the specific reasons being used as justification for 

discontinuing the practice, including resources and references that can serve further 

investigation. Additionally, I have been in contact with a number of experts from the American 

Dental Association, the Oregon Dental Association, and the American Fluoridation Society who 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 27 of 50



would be more than happy to engage with you all directly on the matter if there are any other 

questions that may arise.  

As someone who cares deeply about our community, I am invested in seeing it grow 

stronger, healthier, and more connected. I believe that decisions like maintaining fluoridation are 

not just about science or policy – they are about values. They reflect whether we prioritize the 

long-term well-being of all our residents, or allow short-term interests to shape the future at the 

expense of those who have the least voice. I urge you to act with foresight, compassion, and a 

sense of shared responsibility by preserving water fluoridation for the benefit of our entire 

community, now and for generations to come. 

 

I appreciate your thoughtful consideration on the matter, 

 

 Jackie Sanchez 

 

  

Responses to reasons for the cessation of water fluoridation. 

Reason 1: Water fluoridation has limited efficacy, there are other options 

● Response 

○ The resources listed below can be used to understand the impact of community 

water fluoridation: 

■ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention:  

● https://www.cdc.gov/fluoridation/about/index.html 

■ American Dental Association: 

● https://www.mouthhealthy.org/all-topics-a-z/fluoridation 

● https://ebooks.ada.org/fluoridationfacts/ 

■ American Fluoridation Society:  

● https://americanfluoridationsociety.org/ 

■ Oregon Health Authority: 

● https://www.oregon.gov/oha/ph/preventionwellness/oralhealth/pag

es/benefits-of-flouride.aspx 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 28 of 50

https://www.cdc.gov/fluoridation/about/index.html
https://www.mouthhealthy.org/all-topics-a-z/fluoridation
https://ebooks.ada.org/fluoridationfacts/
https://americanfluoridationsociety.org/
https://www.oregon.gov/oha/ph/preventionwellness/oralhealth/pages/benefits-of-flouride.aspx
https://www.oregon.gov/oha/ph/preventionwellness/oralhealth/pages/benefits-of-flouride.aspx


● https://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/PREVENTIONWELLNESS/ORAL

HEALTH/SCHOOL/Documents/School-Fluoride-Program-Researc

h-Presentation.pdf 

○ The article below is from Dimensions of Dental Hygiene, a monthly, peer-reviewed 

journal for practicing dental hygienists, summarizes the risks of discontinuing 

fluoridation: 

■ https://dimensionsofdentalhygiene.com/what-happens-when-communities

-drop-water-fluoridation/ 

○ Fluoride should never be considered the silver bullet in dental health care, and 

more realistically, is a tool in a bigger tool box. However, as discussed in the 

body of the letter, this one tool might be a critical intervention for some. There are 

many in our community who lack consistent access to preventative dental care, 

or do not have the means to invest in supplemental dental products outside the 

standard toothpaste, and for whom fluoride in the public water is an essential 

backstop. 

■ In Wick, Scotland, after the town discontinued fluoridation in 1979, 

research showed that damage to the primary teeth of residents had 

increased by 27% (American Dental Association, 2018). This increase 

coincided with an overall increase in the use of fluoride toothpaste around 

the country and an overall decrease in tooth decay rates. This would 

seem to suggest that fluoride toothpaste alone does not have the same 

effect as the two being used in tandem. 

■ It is also important to note that there has been research done on locations 

where fluoride was discontinued and the rates of cavities did not 

significantly increase. However, the research notes some important 

contextual factors that were also present in these locations. For example, 

in La Salud, Cuba, a fluoride supplement program was initiated in 1990 to 

coincide with removing fluoride from the water, and this program included 

providing children with regular mouthwash rinses (presumably at school) 

and guaranteeing fluoride varnishes for very young children at least once, 

if not twice, per year (American Dental Association, 2018). Similarly, 

towns in the Netherlands invested in widely-used dental education 

programs, free fluoride supplements, and an increased use of free 

professional dental services (American Dental Association, 2018). This 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 29 of 50

https://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/PREVENTIONWELLNESS/ORALHEALTH/SCHOOL/Documents/School-Fluoride-Program-Research-Presentation.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/PREVENTIONWELLNESS/ORALHEALTH/SCHOOL/Documents/School-Fluoride-Program-Research-Presentation.pdf
https://www.oregon.gov/oha/PH/PREVENTIONWELLNESS/ORALHEALTH/SCHOOL/Documents/School-Fluoride-Program-Research-Presentation.pdf
https://dimensionsofdentalhygiene.com/what-happens-when-communities-drop-water-fluoridation/
https://dimensionsofdentalhygiene.com/what-happens-when-communities-drop-water-fluoridation/


would suggest that without fluoride in the public water system, significant 

investment needs to be made in community dental health services to fully 

counteract its absence. 

○ It was also noted that instead of fluoride, efforts should focus on reducing sugary 

foods in schools and possibly bringing a dental van to visit students. Why do 

these need to be mutually exclusive efforts? It can be true that fluoride is 

important at the same time that we can invest in other measures that also 

improve dental health for our children. 

Reason 2: Cost savings 

● Questions for the commission: 

○ What is the full cost of the fluoridation process? The Public Works representative 

cited $23,000, but this seemed not concrete nor was there a clear definition on 

what that number included (e.g., just the chemical, chemical and storage, etc.). 

○ What would be the cost of stopping the process and then restarting the process 

should consumers request this? This cost should be a deduction to the amount 

being considered as a savings.  

○ What other cost-savings measures are on the table? Has there been a 

comparison on the value of these programs compared to their cost? 

○ What efforts have been made to pursue grants to continue the program? 

○ I would not advocate for this as a first solution, but was there a consideration of 

asking for some coverage of the cost by consumers? 

■ Under the City of Warrenton Code of Ordinance 13.04.050 section L, “all 

rates, charges, penalties and fees will be designated by resolution and 

approved by the Warrenton City Commission.” 

■ If the cost was $23,000 per year, as estimated by the Public Works 

representative, and with 3,695 household water connections as stated in 

the 2024 Annual Summary Report provided to Oregon Health Authority, 

this would amount to ~$6.22 per connection per year (City of Warrenton, 

2025). 

■ Could the city split this cost with consumers, charging a yearly fee of 

$3.11?  

● Resources: 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 30 of 50



○ Research has estimated that every $1 spent on fluoride returns $20 in savings for 

the end consumer in dental care costs, and that the cost of fluoride over 

someone’s life is less than the cost of dental treatment for a single cavity 

(O'Connell et al., 2016; Fluoridated Water and Oral Health, 2025). In our case, 

this would seem to suggest that even if the City is “saving” money now, it is, in 

actuality, shifting an even bigger cost onto the consumers of the water.  

○ Walmart Foundation offers up to $5,000 for grants to communities in which they 

operate (Spark Good Local Grants Guidelines, n.d.). There is no guarantee of 

being selected, but this would be an interesting option to help offset some costs 

given the major role Walmart plays in the local economy. 

○ The Environmental Protection Agency has grants for water infrastructure projects 

for small communities of less than 10,000 residents (WIIN Grant: Small, 

Underserved, and Disadvantaged Communities Grant Program, n.d.). Though 

not specific to fluoride, these would seem to be potentially helpful in offsetting 

other costs that, in turn, could help maintain funding availability for fluoridation. 

Reason 3: Threat from Chinese-sourced goods 

● Questions to the commision: 

○ Where are the other chemicals added to the water sourced from? 

○ Where are other components of the city’s infrastructure sourced from? 

○ Why was it stated that there are no domestic or alternative sources for fluoride? 

■ Sodium fluoride and fluorosilicic acid are primarily sourced from China, 

but not exclusively; hydrofluoric acid is primarily sourced in the US. 

○ Was fluoride specifically mentioned as a national security concern at the National 

Security forum attended by Mayor Balensifer? Or just general infrastructure?  

■ If so, how is fluoride as it relates to national security being considered at a 

national level? More specifically, how is this being considered in much 

larger cities where fluoride is used, like New York City, Los Angeles, 

Chicago, Dallas, Seattle?  

■ Fayetteville, NC, home to Fort Bragg – one of the largest military 

installations in the US – currently adds fluoride to its water (Fayetteville 

Public Works Commission, n.d.). Omaha, NE, home of Offutt Air Force 

Base and United States Strategic Command headquarters, also currently 

adds fluoride to its water (Metropolitan Utilities District, n.d.). And perhaps 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 31 of 50



most significantly, Washington, D.C., our nation’s capital, currently adds 

fluoride to its water (DC Water, n.d.). Have we asked how these cities are 

navigating concerns about the national security implications of the 

process for the many leaders and members of the military that are 

consuming fluoridated water?  

● Resources: 

○ The National Sanitation Foundation provides the standards and testing 

mechanisms for chemicals used in our water, and anything being added – 

regardless of origin – would need to meet these standards before being deemed 

safe for consumption. Standard 60 and 61, which focus on “drinking water 

treatment chemicals” and distribution materials and product, are the standards 

against which the fluoride being added to our water is being evaluated and 

details are outlined on their website:  

■ https://www.nsf.org/knowledge-library/understanding-nsf-ansi-can-60 

■ https://www.nsf.org/water-systems/nsf-ansi-can-61-testing-and-certificatio

n  

Reason 4: Fluoridation is an optional additive, should be a choice 

● Response: 

○ It was noted that many in our community either filter their water or drink bottled 

water, which both reduces the benefit of the fluoridation of the public drinking 

water and is proof that some residents want the ability to choose what is included 

in the water they drink.  

■ It is certainly true that the benefits of public fluoridation are diminished 

when exclusively drinking bottled water, and I would highly recommend 

that those consumers are aware of the need to supplement their fluoride 

consumption with other sources.  

■ I would also argue that this is a great way for residents to exercise their 

right to “choose” what is in the water that they consume. If fluoridation is a 

concern, drinking bottled water or using specific filters on their faucets is 

always available as an alternative. However, it is important to consider 

that the counterfactual is not true – if individuals would prefer to include 

fluoride in the public water, that choice is not available to them if decided 

at the city level. 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 32 of 50

https://www.nsf.org/knowledge-library/understanding-nsf-ansi-can-60
https://www.nsf.org/water-systems/nsf-ansi-can-61-testing-and-certification
https://www.nsf.org/water-systems/nsf-ansi-can-61-testing-and-certification


○ It would be unfair if I did not acknowledge that an important ethical principle in 

healthcare is the notion of “autonomy” and acknowledging that patients have the 

right to accept or refuse treatments offered to them. Commissioners may decide 

that they think fluoride is truly “additive” and therefore, unnecessary. However, 

the right of one to make choices about their health is only ethical if the decision is 

informed. For example, if a medical provider explains a treatment to a patient but 

withholds information about the risks, it would be unethical to accept the patient’s 

decision – either accepting or refusing the treatment – because they did not have 

all the information needed to make a fully informed decision. In this case, given 

the political climate and vast amounts of misinformation on the topic, I am not 

confident that those in opposition to fluoride are making informed decisions. 

■ Additionally, it is important to note that if this were to be pushed to a vote 

in the next general election, not all consumers of Warrenton’s water would 

be eligible to vote – for or against – the practice. As residents of 

unincorporated Warrenton, my husband and I would be good examples. 

Therefore, it would be even more important to ensure that those making 

the decision understand that they are doing so not only for themselves, 

but on behalf of many neighbors that may feel differently. 

Reason 5: Fluoridation causing harm to IQ 

● Response: 

○ The American Dental Association reviewed and released a statement about the 

National Toxicology Program report that has been recently cited as linking 

fluoride to decreases in IQ, and most importantly noted that “the NTP 

acknowledged that studies of fluoride exposure at levels recommended for 

community water fluoridation have not consistently or reliably demonstrated 

effects on cognitive development” (ADA Media Relations, 2024).  

■ While it is worth acknowledging that there were correlations found in the 

report between fluoridation and changes in neurodevelopment, it is 

important to remember a few key aspects of the findings: 

● There were loose correlations found, but there were no findings of 

a causal relationship between fluoride and impacts on IQ. 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 33 of 50



● The locations included in the report are all outside the United 

States and with water supplies in which natural fluoride levels are 

double (or even triple) that which is legally allowed in this country. 

● Neurodevelopment is a highly complex process that we still do not 

entirely understand today, and again, there were no other 

considerations of the contexts in which these children were being 

raised. 

Additional Information: Locations with or without fluoridation 

● Without 

○ Portland – it is true that Portland does not currently fluoridate its water and that 

campaigns to initiate the practice have failed three times at the ballot box. 

However, it is also true that Portland residents – particularly the most vulnerable 

– feel the effects. There are countless stories of dentists first coming to practice 

in Portland and witnessing some of the worst dental health they had ever seen.  

● With 

○ Salem, Beaverton, Astoria, and Seaside – there are a number of Oregon towns, 

large and small, that currently fluoridate the water. In Beaverton, voters elected to 

begin the practice in 2002 and the process was started in 2004 after completing 

full implementation and testing (Water Fluoridation, n.d.). Despite Oregon being 

ranked 49 out of 50 states in percent of residents covered by fluoridated water, 

there are currently nearly 1 million Oregonians who enjoy the benefits 

(Community Water Systems Adjusting Fluoride, n.d.). 

○ Calgary, Ontario, Canada 

■ The city council elected to remove fluoridation in the water for almost the 

exact same reasons being considered here: the public voiced opposition 

to the practice, and it was an easy cost-savings measure when the 

budget was tight (Kaur et al., 2024). 

■ 10 years later, residents voted to restart the practice after there was a 

noticeable increase in cavities, and fluoridation will be restarting this year 

(City Provides Update on Fluoride Reintroduction, 2025). 

● Importantly, City council member Gian-Carlo Carra, who voted to 

discontinue the process originally, notes that while fluoridation is 

not going to completely erase the possibilities of cavities – as 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 34 of 50



mentioned in this letter – the process is important in having a 

“significant, rounding improvement on a general approach to 

dental health and public health” (Kaur et al., 2024). 

 
 
 

 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 35 of 50



References 

ADA Media Relations. (2024, August 26). American Dental Association Reaffirms Support for 

Community Water Fluoridation. American Dental Association. Retrieved May 2, 2025, 

from 

https://www.ada.org/about/press-releases/american-dental-association-reaffirms-support

-for-community-water-fluoridation 

American Dental Association. (2018). Fluoridation Facts. ADA Store. 

https://ebooks.ada.org/fluoridationfacts 

City of Warrenton. (2025, March 27). 2024 Annual Summary Report, Cross Connection & 

Backflow Prevention. Retrieved April 29, 2025, from 

https://yourwater.oregon.gov/docs/asrs/00932_2024.pdf 

City provides update on fluoride reintroduction. (2025, March 20). City of Calgary Newsroom. 

Retrieved April 27, 2025, from 

https://newsroom.calgary.ca/city-provides-update-on-fluoride-reintroduction/ 

Community water systems adjusting fluoride. (n.d.). Oregon Public Health Drinking Water Data 

Online. Retrieved May 3, 2025, from https://yourwater.oregon.gov/fluoride.php 

DC Water. (n.d.). Why is fluoride added to my drinking water? DC Water is Life. Retrieved May 

2, 2025, from https://www.dcwater.com/content/why-fluoride-added-my-drinking-water 

Fayetteville Public Works Commission. (n.d.). Frequently Asked Questions - Water. PWC. 

Retrieved April 29, 2025, from https://www.faypwc.com/faq-water/ 

Fluoridated Water and Oral Health. (2025, January 21). Minnesota Department of Health. 

Retrieved May 3, 2025, from 

https://www.health.state.mn.us/people/oralhealth/programs/fluoride.html 

Kaur, G., Summers, J., & Ketchum, J. (2024, December 13). Calgary removed fluoride from its 

water supply. A decade later, it's adding it back. NPR. Retrieved May 3, 2025, from 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 36 of 50



https://www.npr.org/2024/12/13/nx-s1-5224138/calgary-removed-fluoride-from-its-water-

supply-a-decade-later-its-adding-it-back 

Metropolitan Utilities District. (n.d.). Water Quality. Metropolitan Utilities District. Retrieved April 

30, 2025, from https://www.mudomaha.com/your-water/water-quality/ 

O'Connell, J., Rockell, J., Ouellet, J., Tomar, S. L., & Mass, W. (2016, December). Costs And 

Savings Associated With Community Water Fluoridation In The United States. Health 

Affairs, 35(12). https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2016.0881 

Spark Good Local Grants Guidelines. (n.d.). Walmart Foundation. Retrieved April 27, 2025, from 

https://www.walmart.org/how-we-give/program-guidelines/spark-good-local-grants-guidel

ines 

Water Fluoridation. (n.d.). Beaverton, Oregon. Retrieved May 3, 2025, from 

https://www.beavertonoregon.gov/782/Water-Fluoridation 

WIIN Grant: Small, Underserved, and Disadvantaged Communities Grant Program. (n.d.). 

Environmental Protection Agency. Retrieved April 27, 2025, from 

https://www.epa.gov/dwcapacity/wiin-grant-small-underserved-and-disadvantaged-comm

unities-grant-program-0#app5 

 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 37 of 50



   

8699 SW Sun Place    •    Wilsonville, Oregon 97070-3710    •    503.218.2010 / 800.452.5628    •    fax 503.218.2009    •    www.oregondental.org 

May 9, 2025 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Oregon Dental Association and the nearly 2,000 dentists we represent, we 
strongly urge the City of Warrenton to oppose an ordinance that would remove fluoride from the 
city’s water supply. 
 
While there has been significant misinformation put forth at the federal level about the safety 
and efficacy of fluoride in the last year, fluoridation continues to be safe and effective in 
reducing tooth decay by more than 25% in children and adults.  
 
It is particularly critical for low-income and rural populations, as well as those without access to 
regular dental care. It is also the most efficient way to prevent one of the most common 
childhood diseases – dental decay (five times as common as asthma and seven times as 
common as hay fever in 5- to 17-year-olds). In fact, the CDC has proclaimed community water 
fluoridation one of the ten great public health achievements of the 20th century because of the 
role it has played in the reduction of tooth decay. 
 
Further, the economic advantages are substantial: Compared to the cost of dental treatment, 
community water fluoridation provides cost savings. The average lifetime cost per person to 
fluoridate a water system is less than the cost of one dental filling. For most cities, Warrenton, 
every $1 invested in water fluoridation saves $38 in dental treatment costs. The average cost for 
a community to fluoridate its water is estimated to range from approximately 50 cents per year 
per person in large communities to approximately $3.00 per year per person in small 
communities. 
 
In 2011, Calgary, Alberta, chose to remove fluoride from their city’s water supply. Now, 13 years 
later they are reversing that decision at great expense. After water fluoridation stopped, the 
negative aftereffects were extreme; the number of cavities in adults and children rose 
substantially, and the number of children who needed to be treated for dental decay under 
general anesthesia increased by almost 80%. 
 
The overwhelming weight of credible scientific evidence consistently indicates that fluoridation 
of community water supplies is the single most effective, safe and economical way to prevent 
dental decay among our citizens, regardless of their age or socio-economic status. 
 
Community water fluoridation is a vital public health practice that improves oral health, saves 
costs, and enhances overall well-being. By maintaining optimal levels of fluoride in community 
water, the City of Warrenton can continue to support the health and prosperity of your 
communities for generations to come. The Oregon Dental Association urges you to oppose the 
removal of fluoride from the city’s water supply. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Caroline Zeller, DDS 
President, Oregon Dental Association 
 

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 38 of 50



City Commission Agenda Memo
Meeting Date: May 13th, 2025

From: Kevin German, Public Works Director

Subject: Request to Award Construction Contract for the City of

Warrenton Raw Waterline RP-2 Project

Summary:

The intent of this contract is to replace a section of the City's raw water transmission main. The major

elements of work include the installation of approximately 3,800 linear feet of buried 24-inch diameter

HDPE DR17 pipe, including isolation valves, appurtenances, and connections to the existing raw waterline.

Sealed bids were received and opened at 2:00 PM, local time, on April 24, 2025. A total of six bids were

submitted, five of which were considered responsive. The engineer's estimated cost for the project was

between $1.5 million and $1.8 million. The lowest responsible bidder was Trench Line Excavation, Inc.,

with a bid amount of $898,181. Following evaluation, the engineer confirmed that the bid is complete, the

contractor's license is current, and the bid items are accurately summarized.

Recommendation/Suggested Motion:

/// move to approve the award of the construction contract for the Raw Waterline RP-2 Project to Trench

Line Excavation, Inc. in the amount of $898,181.

Alternative:
Other action as deemed appropriate by the City Commission

OR
None recommended

Fiscal Impact:

The approved fiscal budget for this project is $2,740,000, which is sufficient to cover the contract award.

There are no additional fiscal impacts beyond the approved budget.

Attachments:
(All supporting documentation, i.e., maps, exhibits, etc., must be attached to this memorandum.)

• Recommendation of the award with bid tabulation

• Contactor Agreement

Approved by City Manager: ,. ^/'}/l ^ //^i'
-f

c

7.A

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 39 of 50



® censor

W2310240R.OO

April 29, 2025

Mr. Kevin German, PE

Public Works Director

CityofWarrenton

kfiorman@warrentonoreRon.us

Re: Raw Waterline Replacement RP-2 Project

Recommendation of Award

Dear Kevin:

On April 24, 2025, the City received bids on the above-referenced project. The City has compiled

a summary table of the six received bids, which is included as an attachment to this letter for

record. The tabulation also includes our Opinion of Probable Cost, which was $1,742,540.

We have reviewed the bids and recommend award of the contract to Trench Line Excavation, Inc.

in the amount of $898,181.

If you have any questions or comments, please do not hesitate to call.

Sincerely,

Justin Reeves, PE

Project Engineer

JCR

Enclosures: Tabulation of Received Bids

ec: Twyla Vittetoe, Engineering Technician, tvittetoe@warrentonoreRon.us

Project File

One SW Columbia Street, Suite 1700 Portland, OR 97204

P 503-225-9010 | www.consoreng.com

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 40 of 50



us

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 41 of 50



RAW WATERLINE REPLACEMENT RP-2

City of Warrenton

Engineer's Opinion of Probable Cost (AACE Class 1 Estimate)

100% Submittal - 03/05/25

ITEM NO.

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19

DESCRIPTION
Vlobilization, Bonds, Insurance and

3emobilization

record Drawings

Femporary Work Zone Traffic Control

Femporary Erosion & Sediment Control

construction Survey & Staking

French Safety System

Femporary Dewatering System

Rock Excavation

General Surfacing Restoration

Tree Removal

24-in DR17 HDPE (IPS) Waterline

Trench Dam

2-in Combination Air Release Valve Assembly

Blow Off Valve Assembly

Fire Hydrant Assembly

Connection to Existing Waterline, "West"

Connection to Existing Waterline, "East"

Abandon Existing Waterline

Fire Watch

QTY

11
11
n
11
11
11
n

101
11
11

3,7631
101

21
21
n
11
11
11

60|

UNIT

LS
LS
LS
LS
LS
LS
LS
CY
LS
LS
LF
EA
EA
EA
EA
LS
LS
LS
DY

UN IT COST

$ 194,000
$ 5,500

$ 11,000

$ 19,800
$ 8,800

$ 11,000
$ 16,500
$ 385
$ 13,200

$ 22,000
$ 330

i_2,750
$ 16,500
$ 16,500
$ 13,200
$ 13,200
$ 13,200

$ 11,000
$ 850

Construction Total

TOTAL COST

$ 194,000
$ 5,500

$ 11,000
$ 19,800
$ 8,800

$ 11,000

$ 16,500

$ 3,850

$ 13,200
$ 22,000
$ 1,241,790

$ 27,500

$ 33,000
$ 33,000
$ 13,200
$ 13,200
$ 13,200
$ 11,000
$ 51,000
$ 1,742,540

A:\_V-W\Projects\OR\Warrenton\2023\W2310240R.OO\18 Bid Phase\Bid Results from City\W2310240R Warrenton Raw Waterline RP-2_Bid Tabulation

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 42 of 50



SECTION 00 52 13 - CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT

1.00 - GENERAL

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this _ day of _, 2025, by and between

Trench Line Excavation, INC. hereinafter called "CONTRACTOR" and the City of Warrenton, a municipal

corporation, hereinafter called "CITY."

WITNESSETH:

That the said CONTRACTOR and the said CITY, for the consideration hereinafter named agree as follows:

2.00 - DESCRIPTION OF WORK
The CONTRACTOR agrees to perform the work of:

RAW WATERLINE REPLACEMENT RP-2 PROJECT

and do all things required of it as per his Bid, all in accordance with the described Bid, a copy of which is hereto

attached and made a part of this Contract.

3.00 - COMPLETION OF CONTRACT
The CONTRACTOR agrees that the Work under this Contract shall be completed by the following dates:

• Substantial Completion - 120 days from Notice to Proceed

• Final Completion -150 days from Notice to Proceed

If said CONTRACTOR has not fully completed this Contract within the time set or any extension thereof, it shall
pay liquidated damages in accordance with Section 00180.85 of the General Conditions.

4.00 - CONTRACT PRICE
The Contract Price for this project is $898,181. Payment will be made in accordance with ORS 279C.560

including progress payments at the end of each month. Retainage will be withheld in accordance with ORS

279C.550 - .565.

5.00 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS
The CONTRACTOR and the CITY agree that the plans, specifications (including the ODOT/APWA 2015 Oregon
Standard Specifications for Construction and Contract Documents defined in Section 00110.20 of the Contract

Documents General Conditions and all modifications thereto) and bid are, by this reference, incorporated into

this Contract and are fully a part of this contract.

6.00 - NONDISCRIMINATION
It is the policy of the City of Warrenton that no person shall be denied the benefits of or be subjected to

discrimination in any City program, service, or activity on the grounds of age, disability, race, religion, color,

national origin, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity and expression. The City ofWarrenton also requires

its contractors and grantees to comply with this policy.

7.00 - CONTRACTOR IS INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR
A. CONTRACTOR acknowledges that for all purposes related to this Contract, CONTRACTOR is and shall be

deemed to be an independent CONTRACTOR and not an employee of CITY, shall not be entitled to benefits of

W2310240R.OO Contractor Agreement

005213-1

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 43 of 50



any kind to which an employee of the CITY is entitled and shall be solely responsible for all payments and taxes

required by law; and furthermore in the event that CONTRACTOR is found by a court of law or an

administrative agency to be an employee of the CIT/ for any purpose, CITY shall be entitled to repayment of

any amounts from CONTRACTOR under the terms of the Contract; to the full extent of any benefits or other

remuneration CONTRACTOR receives (from CIT/ or third party) as result of said finding and to the full extent

of any payments that CITY is required to make (to CONTRACTOR or to a third party) as a result of said finding.

B. The undersigned CONTRACTOR hereby represents that no employee of the CITY of Warrenton, or any

partnership or corporation in which a CITY employee has an interest, has or will receive any remuneration of

any description from the CONTRACTOR, either directly or indirectly, in connection with the letting or

performance of this Contract, except as specifically declared in writing.

8.00 - SUBCONTRACTS - RELATIONS WITH SUBCONTRACTORS, ASSIGNMENTS AND DELEGATION
A. Assignment or Transfer Restricted. The CONTRACTOR shall not assign, sell, dispose of, or transfer rights

nor delegate duties under the contract, either in whole or in part, without the CITY'S prior written consent.

Unless otherwise agreed by the CITY in writing, such consent shall not relieve the CONTRACTOR of any

obligations under the contact. Any assignee or transferee shall be considered the agent of the CONTRACTOR

and be bound to abide by all provisions of the contract. If the CITY consents in writing to an assignment, sale,

disposal or transfer of the CONTRACTOR'S rights or delegation of the CONTRACTOR'S duties, the CONTRACTOR

and its surety, if any, shall remain liable to the CITY for complete performance of the contract as if no such

assignment, sale, disposal, transfer or delegation had occurred unless the CITY otherwise agrees in writing.

B. CONTRACTOR may not discriminate against a subcontractor in awarding a subcontract because the

subcontractor is a minority, women or emerging small business enterprise certified under ORS 200.055 or a

business enterprise that is owned or controlled by or that employs a disabled veteran, as defined in ORS

408.225. If CONTRACTOR violates this prohibition, the CITY will regard the violation as a breach of contract

and may either terminate the contract or exercise any other remedy for breach of contract.

9.00 - NONWAIVER

The failure of the CITY to insist upon or enforce strict performance by CONTRACTOR of any of the terms of

this Contract or to exercise any rights hereunder shall not be construed as a waiver or relinquishment to any

extent of its right to assert or rely upon such terms or rights on any future occasion.

10.00 - LABORERS AND MATERIALMEN, CONTRIBUTIONS TO INDUSTRIAL ACCIDENT FUND, LIENS AND
WITHHOLDING TAXES
CONTRACTOR shall make payment promptly, as due, to all persons supplying CONTRACTOR labor or material

for the prosecution of the work provided for this contract.

CONTRACTOR shall pay all contributions or amounts due the Industrial Accident Fund from CONTRACTOR or

any subcontractor incurred in the performance of the contract.

CONTRACTOR shall not permit any lien or claim to be filed or prosecuted against the CITY on account of any

labor or material furnished,

CONTRACTOR shall pay to the Department of Revenue all sums withheld from employees pursuant to ORS

316.167.

11.00 - CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH TAX LAWS

W2310240R.OO Contractor Agreement

00 52 13 - 2

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 44 of 50



As required by ORS 305.385(6), CONTRACTOR certifies under penalty of perjury that the CONTRACTOR, to the
best of CONTRACTOR'S knowledge, is not in violation of any of the tax laws described in ORS 305.380(4).

12.00 - CITY BUSINESS LICENSE
Prior to starting work, CONTRACTOR shall pay the CITY business license tax and provide the Project Director

with a copy of business license receipt. CONTRACTOR shall, likewise, require all subcontractors to pay the

CITY business license tax and provide a copy of the receipt to the Project Director prior to commencement of

work.

APPROVED AS TO FORM: CITY OF WARRENTON, a municipal of the
State of Oregon

City Attorney

BY:
Mayor Date

ATTEST:

Contractor Date City Manager Date

W2310240R.OO Contractor Agreement

0052 13-3

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 45 of 50



City Commission Agenda Memo
Meeting Date:

From:

Subject:

May 13th, 2025

Kevin German, Public Works Director

Safe Drinking Water Revolving Loan Fund Financing Contract

Revised Amendment #3- Hammond Transmission Waterline

Summary:

On January 10,2017, the City executed a Safe Drinking Water Revolving Loan Fund agreement to secure

funding for the Hammond Transmission Waterline Project. Since then, the City has worked closely with the

Oregon Business Development Department to extend the project completion deadline.

Amendment #3, originally approved by the Commission on February llth, extended the project deadline.

However, additional administrative updates were needed. The revised amendment updates the project

cost to reflect EPA funding received for Phase 1 construction and amends Section 8(c) of the agreement. It

also updates the project description: white the original agreement described the entire project scope, the

City is now proceeding with a phased approach, and the current description reflects that Phase 1

construction is the immediate focus. Phase 1 is anticipated to utilize all available construction funding.

The project opened for bidding on April 29th, with the bid period closing on May 29th. Phase 1
construction remains on schedule for completion by the end of the year.

Recommendation/Suggested Motion:

/// move to authorize the City Manager to execute the revised Amendment ft3 to the Safe Drinking Water

Revolving Loan Fund Agreement for the Hammond Transmission Waterline Project."

Alternative:

Other action as deemed appropriate by the City Commission

OR
None recommended

Fiscal Impact:

N/A

Attachments:
(All supporting documentation, i.e,, maps, exhibits, etc., must be attached to this memorandum.)

• Safe Drinking Water Revolving Loan Fund Financing Contract - Amendment Number 03 (revised)

by City Manager: I//){i'l//A )
"i v \./

^y
//

7.B

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 46 of 50



Amendment Number 03

Project Name: NW Warrenton Drive Transmission Main Replacement

This amendment is made and entered into by and between the State of Oregon, acting by and through
the Oregon Infrastructure Finance Authority of the Oregon Business Development Department ("IFA"),
and the City ofWarrenton ("Recipient"), and amends the Financing Contract between Recipient and
IFA, Project Number S17012, dated 02 February 2017, (as amended, "Contract") for the above-named
Project. Capitalized terms not defined in this amendment have the meanings assigned to them by the
Contract.

Recital: The purpose of this amendment is to extend the Project Completion Deadline, amend the
Project Description, revise the Project Budget and update Exhibit E.

The parties agree as follows:

1. Amend the following Key Terms in Section 1 of the Contract as follows (deletion in
strikethrough; addition in double underline):

"Estimated Project Cost" means $1.615.000 2.645.000.

"Project Completion Deadline" means 31 December 2024 31 December 2025.

2. Amend Section 8(C) to delete (10) Meters of the Contract as follows (deletion in strikethrough;
addition in double underline):

(10) Meters. Prior to final disbursement of the Loan, Recipient shall,

-(+)—In the case of construction projects, install necessary source meters and service meters on

all connections throughout the System.

-<-»)—In the case of planning, preliminary engineering and final design and specification projects,
adopt a plan for the installation of necessary source meters and service meters on all

connections throughout the System.

3. Delete Exhibit C - Project Description of the Contract and replace it in its entirety with the following
new Exhibit C:

EXHIBIT C -PROJECT DESCRIPTION

The Recipient shall, with the assistance of a professional engineer licensed in Oregon, design and
install an 18-inch drinking water transmission line beginning at the cul-de-sac ofNW 13th Street,
continuing westward along 13th Street and State Highway 104 to the intersection of Highway 104 and
7* Avenue in Warrenton, Oregon where it will connect to the existing 8-inch water line. The Recipient
may also hire a consultant to complete the required labor standards compliance.

No later than the Project Completion Date, Recipient shall:

1. Repair the leaking raw water transmission main for the Lewis and dark source.

2. Update its records retention policy.

3. Update protocols for operators certified at less than the required level for the water system.

Amendment Number 3 S17012A03_Warrenton_Amend

Page 1 of 4

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 47 of 50



4. Delete Exhibit D - Project Budget in its entirety and replace it with the following new Exhibit D:

EXHIBIT D - PROJECT

Budget Line Items

Design / Engineering

Construction

Construction Contingency

Labor Standards Requirements

Total

IFA Source

$255,595

$1,161,796

$212,609

$15,000

$1,645,000

BUDGET

Other Funds

$0

$1,000,000

$0

$0

$1,000,000

Totals

$255,595|

$2,161,7961

$212,609|

$15,000

$2,645,000

5. Delete Exhibit E - Information Required by 2 CRF § 200.332(b)(l) in its entirety and replace it
with the following:

EXHIBIT E - INFORMATION REQUIRED BY 2 CFR § 200.332(B)(1)

Federal Award Identification:

(i) Subrecipient* name (which must match registered name in SAM): WARRENTON. CITY OF

(ii) Subrecipient's Unique Entity Identifier (SAM): MXASVPL41FV3

(iii) Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN):98009018

(iv) Federal Award Date: 1 9 September 2018

(v) Sub-award Period of Performance Start and End Date: 02 February 2017 to 31 December 2025

(vi) Sub-award Budget Period Start and End dates: 02 February 2017 to 31 December 2025

(vii) Amount of Federal Funds Obligated by this action by the pass-through entity to the subrecipient:

^0
(viii) Total Amount** of Federal Funds Obligated to the subrecipient by the pass-through entity

including the current financial obligation: $1,645,000

(ix) Total Amount** of the Federal Award committed to the subrecipient by the pass-through entity:

$1.645.000

(X)

(xi)

Federal award project description as required to be responsive to the Federal Funding
Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA): Oregon's Drinking Water State Revolving
Fund: This grant increases the capacity of Oregon to ensure thaL^
continue to provide safe drinking wat^^^^^^^^^^^ d) continuing loan financing to public

water systems and support for newly proposed priority projects, (2) providing grant support for
covering administrative expenses, small public water system technical assistance. State program

management and local assistance, and (3) continuation of the loan fund to finance source water

protection project initiatives, including acquiring conservation easements.

Name of Federal awarding agency, pass-through entity, and contact information for awarding
official of the Pass-through entity:

(a) Name of Federal awarding agency: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

Amendment Number 3 si7oi2 A03_warrenton_Amend

Page 2 of 4

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 48 of 50



(b) Name of pass-through entity: Oregon Business Development Department

(c) Contact information for awarding official of the pass-through entity: Edward Tabor,
Infrastructure and Program Services Directory03-949-3523

(xii) The Federal Assistance Listing (formerly CFDA) Number and Title: 66.468 Safe Drinking Water
State Revolving Fund,
Amount: $1.645.000

(xiii) Is Award R&D? No

(xiv) Indirect cost rate for the Federal award: 10%

* For the purposes of this Exhibit E, "Subrecipient" refers to Recipient and "pass-through entity"
refers to OBDD.

** The total amount of federal funds obligated or committed to the Subrecipient by the pass-through
entity is the total amount of federal funds obligated or committed to the Subrecipient by the pass-

through entity during the current state fiscal year, which runs from July 1 through June 30.

IFA will have no obligation under this amendment, unless within 60 days after receipt, the Recipient
delivers to OBDD the following items, each in form and substance satisfactory to IFA and its Counsel:

(i) this amendment duly executed by an authorized officer of the Recipient; and

(ii) such other certificates, documents, opinions and information as OBDD may reasonably require.

SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW

Amendment Number 3 si7oi2 A03 Warrenton Amend

Page 3 of 4

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 49 of 50



Except as specifically provided above, this amendment does not modify the Contract, and the Contract
shall remain in full force and effect during the term thereof. This amendment is effective on the date it is

fully executed and approved as required by applicable law.

STATE OF OREGON

acting by and through its
Oregon Infrastructure Finance Authority

of the Oregon Business Development Department

CITY OF WARRENTON

By:
Edward Tabor, Infrastructure & Program

Services Director

By:
Esther Moberg, City Manager

Date: Date:

APPROVED AS TO LEGAL SUFFICIENCY IN ACCORDANCE WITH ORS 291.047:

/s/ John McCormick as per email dated 18 April 2025

John McCormick, Senior Assistant Attorney General

Amendment Number 3 S17012A03 Warrenton Amend

Page 4 of 4

5.13.2025 Commission Packet 
Page 50 of 50


	1. City Commission Agenda 2025.05.13
	3.A City Commission Minutes 2025.04.07 CIP WS
	3.B City Commission Minutes 2025.04.22 Joint WS. Planning Commission
	3.C City Commission Minutes 2025.04.22
	3.D  Marina Update April 28, 2025
	3.E Parks Advisory Board Minutes 2025.02.10
	3.F Monthly Finance Report March 2025
	3.G Warrenton Community Library Computer Grant
	6.A Fluoride Supplementation; Ordinance No. 1293
	7.A Raw Waterline RP-2 Project Contract Award
	7.B Revised Amendment #3 Hammond Transmission Waterline



